

1 **Title: Identification and expression analysis of the small auxinup**
2 **RNA (*SAUR*) gene family in *Lycium ruthenicum***

3

4

5

6

7 **Authors:** Jing Hu, Qiushi Yu, Shengxiu Jiang, Xiaoke Hu, Xuemin Li
8 and Zhongchao Liu*

9

10

11 **Address:** State Key Laboratory Breeding Base of Desertification and
12 Aeolian Sand Disaster Combating, Gansu Desert Control
13 Research Institute, Lanzhou 730070, China; Hubei Engineering
14 University, Xiaogan, 432000, China)

15

16

17 * Corresponding author: Zhongchao Liu

18 E-mail: lzhongchao@126.com;

19 Tel.: +86-931-7606112

20 Fax: +86-931-7686822

21

22

23 Identification and expression analysis of the small auxin-up RNA
24 (*SAUR*) gene family in *Lycium ruthenicum*

25 **Abstract**

26 The plant hormone auxin regulates numerous aspects of plant growth and development, and small
27 auxin-up RNA (*SAUR*) is the largest family of early auxin response genes in higher plants, *SAUR* has
28 been implicated in the regulation of multiple biological processes. However, no comprehensive
29 analysis of *SAUR* genes has been reported in *Lycium ruthenicum*. *L. ruthenicum* is a thorny shrub with
30 very pronounced salt and drought tolerance, and studies have shown that stem thorns are related to
31 drought tolerance in *L. ruthenicum*. In this study, the identification, phylogenetic analysis, and
32 conserved motif prediction were extensively explored. Furthermore, the tissue expression patterns of
33 21 selected genes were assayed with quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). A
34 total of 33 putative *LrSAURs* were identified and divided into three clusters in a phylogenetic tree of *L.*
35 *ruthenicum LrSAURs*. MEME analysis identified 10 motifs in *L. ruthenicum*, and the results suggested
36 that motif 1 and motif 3 were widely distributed. Analyzing the transcriptome data of stem thorns at
37 four developmental stages indicated that *LrSAURs* were differentially expressed in *L. ruthenicum*, and
38 could be divided into six expression patterns. The RT-qPCR analysis of 21 genes showed that
39 *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR8*, *LrSAUR9*, *LrSAUR11*, *LrSAUR12*, and *LrSAUR19* were mainly expressed in
40 stems and stem thorns, and may be related to stem thorn development.

41 **Keywords** *Lycium ruthenicum*, Plant growth and development, MEME analysis, Phylogenetic tree,
42 Gene tissue expression

43
44 **INTRODUCTION**

45
46 Plants in arid desert regions are exposed to severe environmental conditions, and most desert plants are
47 unique and precious. These plants possess constitutive and inducible defense barriers to counteract
48 stresses, and have formed various special structures, such as cuticles, waxy layers, trichomes, and
49 spines, during the long process of evolution (Ménard et al., 2013). *Lycium ruthenicum* Murr. (black
50 goji) belongs to the Solanaceae family, and is a unique nutritional and medicinal food mainly
51 distributed in the salinized desert of northwestern China (Liu et al., 2012). Due to its nutritional,

Deleted:

Deleted: SAURshave

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted: ,

57 medicinal, and ecological value, *L. ruthenicum* has attracted widespread attention. Stem thorns are one
58 of the important symbolic characters of *L. ruthenicum*. *Lu et al. (2014)* found that compared with
59 cultivated plants, wild *L. ruthenicum* had more and denser thorns. Furthermore, *Zhang et al. (2019)*
60 reported that *L. ruthenicum* did not grow stem thorns when cultured under the conditions of 100% and
61 80% water-holding capacity (WHC), while plants had a large number of stem thorns under 60% and 40%
62 WHC treatments. These findings indicated that the formation of stem thorns was closely related to soil
63 water content, and drought stress could promote the development of stem thorns in *L. ruthenicum*,
64 suggesting that stem thorns may be a direct response mechanism to drought and one of the important
65 strategies to resist drought stress. However, to date, the molecular mechanism of thorn growth induced
66 by drought has not been reported.

67 Stem thorns develop from axillary buds and can develop into branches under appropriate
68 conditions. Therefore, factors affecting axillary bud development may play an important role in
69 regulating the occurrence of stem thorns. Plant hormones play a key role in axillary meristem
70 formation and the activation and growth of dormant axillary buds (*Waldie et al., 2018*). Additionally,
71 auxin influences nearly all aspects of plant growth and development by regulating cell division,

Deleted: through

72 expansion, differentiation, and patterning via regulating the expression of genes (*Ren & Gray, 2015*).
73 Among auxin response genes, the small auxin-up RNA (SAUR) is the largest family of auxin early
74 response genes, which are rapidly induced by auxin and encode plant-specific small proteins (*Ren &*
75 *Gray, 2015*). SAURs are crucial regulators of diverse aspects of plant growth, development, and stress
76 responses, such as root development, hypocotyl elongation, leaf growth and senescence, and response
77 to drought, low temperature, disease, and insect pests (*Abbas et al., 2013; Kant et al., 2009; Ren &*
78 *Gray, 2015; Vanhaeren et al., 2014*). In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, the expression levels of *AtSAUR36* and
79 *AtSAUR41* were closely related to cell expansion, and overexpression of these genes significantly
80 elongated hypocotyl epidermal cells (*Chae et al., 2012; Stamm & Kumar, 2013; Spartz et al., 2012,*
81 *2017; Kong et al., 2013*). SAUR32, SAUR19, and SAUR36 are mainly related to the formation of the
82 apical hook, and overexpression seedlings have short hypocotyls in *A. thaliana* (*Park et al., 2007;*
83 *Spartz et al., 2012; Stamm and Kumar, 2013*). *AtSAUR41* and *AtSAUR76* are related to root
84 development, and the upregulation of their transcription can promote taproot elongation and lateral root
85 development (*Kong et al., 2013; Markakis et al., 2013*). The upregulated expression of *SAUR12,*
86 *SAUR34, SAUR54, SAUR67, SAUR91, and SAUR97* in poplar improved the adaptability of seedlings to

Deleted: are

89 low temperature (Hu et al., 2018). In addition, SAUR family proteins are regulated by miR159,
90 which promotes drought tolerance in wheat (Gupta et al., 2014). Moreover, SAUR30 is also related
91 to drought adaptation in poplar (Chen et al., 2014). Research suggests that SAURs are crucial
92 regulators of diverse aspects of plant growth and development. Furthermore, in *A. thaliana*, *SAUR19*
93 overexpression and *SAUR19/23/24* amiRNA knockdown seedlings showed increased and decreased
94 basipetal indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) transport in hypocotyls, respectively (Spartz et al., 2012). In
95 contrast, the overexpression of *OsSAUR39* in rice resulted in reduced basipetal IAA transport (Kant et
96 al., 2009), indicating that SAUR proteins are capable of modulating IAA transport. Although SAUR
97 family identification and expression analysis have been conducted in a variety of plants, the functions
98 of the members of this gene family are largely unknown, and whether IAA and SAUR are involved in
99 regulating the growth of stem thorns under drought conditions is not yet known. Hence, further study
100 of SAURs to reveal their biological effects in *L. ruthenicum* is valuable.

Deleted: the

101 In this study, the salt-xerophyte *L. ruthenicum*, which produces a large number of stem thorns
102 under drought conditions, was used as a material. *SAUR* family members were identified and the tissue
103 expression patterns of genes in *L. ruthenicum* were analyzed. The findings of this study provide
104 valuable information on the stress-response profiles of *SAUR* genes in *L. ruthenicum* and lay a solid
105 foundation for elucidating the functions of *SAUR* genes in regulating the generation of stem thorns.

107 MATERIALS AND METHODS

109 Plant growth conditions and treatments

110
111 *L. ruthenicum* seeds were collected from Minqin County (101°59'E–104°12'E, 38°08'N–39°26'N), in
112 Gansu Province of northwest China. Seedlings were cultured as described by Hu et al. (2022) with
113 minor modifications: when seedlings grew to about 1 cm, they were transplanted into plant pots (20
114 cm³; three seedlings/container) filled with nutrient soil. Seedlings with consistent growth were selected
115 after 20 days of cultivation and then sprayed with 0, 25, and 50 mg/L IAA every day for 60 days. To
116 minimize the effects of possible environmental gradients in the greenhouse, pots were randomly
117 reassigned to new positions every day.

Deleted: -

121 Transcriptome analysis

122

123 Seedlings of *L. ruthenicum* were cultured for three weeks and then divided into two treatments: 80%
124 WHC and 40% WHC. After treatment about for 60 days, seedlings were divided into treatment groups
125 as follows:

126 (i) D1: ~~Non-thorn stem nodes near the apex under the treatment of 40% WHC.~~

Deleted: Non

127 (ii) D2: Sprout-thorn stem nodes under the treatment of 40% WHC.

128 (iii) D3: Long green thorn stem nodes under the treatment of 40% WHC.

129 (iv) C: Stem nodes under the treatment of 80% WHC which was the same part of group (iii).

Formatted: Highlight

130 Four groups of samples were mixed or used separately for third or second-generation
131 transcriptome sequencing (Biomarker Technologies Company, China). This experiment was performed
132 with three biological replicates. Raw data were submitted to the public NCBI Sequence Read Archive
133 database (<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra>, accession number SRR22514555, and release date:
134 2024-12-06).

135

136 Sequence database search and identification of the *LrSAURs* in *L. ruthenicum*

137

138 The potential annotated nucleotide sequences of *LrSAURs* were downloaded from the NCBI Sequence
139 Read Archive database (<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra>, accession number SRR22514555). First,
140 SAUR protein sequences from *A. thaliana* were collected (<https://www.uniprot.org/>) to construct a
141 local BLASTP protein database (with an E-value cut off of 10^{-10} and an identity of 50%). Next, a
142 hidden Markov Model (HMM) was constructed with the HMMER 3.0 program to find all predicted
143 SAUR family members of *L. ruthenicum*. Then, the aligned sequences were considered as candidate
144 SAUR family sequences, and the candidate *LrSAURs* were named beginning with “Lr” for *L.*
145 *ruthenicum*. ProtParam (<http://web.expasy.org/protparam/>) was used to analyze the physicochemical
146 parameters (length, molecular weight, and isoelectric point) of the candidate *LrSAURs*. Eighty-three *A.*
147 *thaliana* protein sequences were downloaded from <https://www.arabidopsis.org/>. Multiple alignment
148 using fast Fourier transform (MAFFT: <http://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/software/>) was used to analyze the
149 multiple sequence alignment among these *LrSAURs*. A tree was constructed using the neighbor-joining
150 (NJ) method in MEGA 7.0 with partial deletion and the p-distance model.

Deleted: in order

153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182

Structural ~~characterization~~ and heatmap analysis of *LrSAURs*

Deleted: characterisation

The MEME program was used to identify the conserved protein motifs of *LrSAURs*, with optimum motif widths of 6–50 residues and a maximum of 10 motifs. For the analysis of gene expression, the number of clean tags for each gene was calculated and normalized to fragments per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads (FPKM): $FPKM = \frac{\text{cDNA Fragments}}{\text{Mapped Fragments (Millions)} * \text{Transcript Length (kb)}}$. Heatmaps of genes in the different stem thorn development stages were generated based on their FPKM values using the Toolbox for biologists (v0.67373) software (<https://github.com/CJ-Chen/TBtools>).

RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, and quantitative real-time PCR (RT-PCR) analysis

Total RNA was extracted with a Trizol Kit R6827-01 (Omega Bio-Tek, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions from the roots, stems, stem thorns, and leaves of three-month-old *L. ruthenicum* seedlings. A NanoDrop 2000 instrument (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was used to evaluate the RNA quantity and quality (A260 nm/A280 nm: 1.8–2.0 for purity; 500-1000ng/μL for concentration). The Evo M-MLV RT Kit AG11728 (Accurate Biotechnology, China) was used to reverse-transcribe the total RNA into cDNA according to the instructions.

Deleted:

Twenty-one *LrSAURs* were selected from the 33 genes for the RT-qPCR analysis of the tissue expression. The reference gene used was *LrEF1a* (JX427553). The primer pairs are shown in

Formatted: Highlight

Supplementary Table S1. RT-qPCR analysis was performed using the SYBR Green SYBR Green Premix Pro Taq HS (Accurate Biotechnology, China) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Analysis was run on the QuantStudio 5 Real-Time PCR Instrument (ABI) (Life Technologies Holdings). The cycling parameters were 95°C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, and 60°C for 30 s. The ~~data~~ was quantitated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Duan et al. 2015). This experiment

Deleted: date

Data analysis

186 Values of the gene expression levels were presented as the means \pm SE ($n = 3$). Data were analyzed
187 using one-way analysis of variance followed by Duncan's multiple range tests ($p \leq .05$) (SPSS
188 statistical software, Version 25.0, SPSS Inc.).

189

190 RESULTS

191

192 Effects of IAA on the stem thorn development of *L. ruthenicum*

193

194 The plant heights under the 25 and 50 mg/L IAA treatments were ~~taller than those~~ under the control
195 (CK). A large number of stem thorns appeared in CK plants, a small number of thorns appeared later in
196 25 mg/L IAA plants, and fewer thorns were found in the 50 mg/L IAA plants than in the 25 mg/L IAA
197 treatment (Fig. 1).

198

199 Identification of *LrSAURs*

200

201 A total of 33 putative *LrSAURs* with a central domain (PF02519) were acquired and named *LrSAUR1*–
202 *LrSAUR33* (Table 1). The obtained gene lengths ranged from 548 bp (*LrSAUR13*) to 7237 bp
203 (*LrSAUR19*), and the predicted amino acids ranged from 82 aa (*LrSAUR23*) to 586 aa (*LrSAUR1*)
204 (Table 1). In addition, the theoretical isoelectric point (pI) of the *LrSAURs* ranged from 5.27 to 10.18,
205 and the molecular weight (Mw) ranged from 9202.04 to 67625.88 Da.

206 The *LrSAUR* sequences were aligned to draw the evolutionary tree of *L. ruthenicum* (Fig. 2).

207 According to the evolutionary tree, these proteins can be divided into three groups (Fig. 2).

208 MEME software was used to analyze the *LrSAUR* sequences, and a total of 10 conserved motifs
209 were identified: motif 1–motif 10 (Fig. 3). As shown in Figure 3, the number and type of conserved
210 motifs contained in 33 *LrSAUR* proteins were different: one *LrSAUR* protein contained one conserved
211 motif, one *LrSAUR* protein contained two conserved motifs, 21 *LrSAUR* proteins contained three
212 conserved motifs, nine *LrSAUR* proteins contained four conserved motifs, and one *LrSAUR* protein
213 contained seven conserved motifs. Motif 1 and motif 3 were widely distributed.

214

215 Expression analysis of *LrSAURs* under drought treatment

Deleted: obviously

217

218 The heatmaps of thorns at different developmental stages in all *LrSAURs* under drought treatment are
219 shown in Figure 4. Thirty-three *LrSAURs* were found to exhibit different expression patterns in *L.*
220 *ruthenicum*. The clustering results showed that these genes could be divided into six patterns. *LrSAUR1*,
221 *LrSAUR3*, *LrSAUR14*, *LrSAUR15*, *LrSAUR16*, *LrSAUR18*, *LrSAUR22*, *LrSAUR24*, *LrSAUR26*, and
222 *LrSAUR28* were at low expression levels at all developmental stages. The expression level of
223 *LrSAUR21* was upregulated once the first thorn had grown and downregulated when thorns grew long.
224 The transcript abundance of *LrSAUR9* was higher in the control, but it was downregulated gradually
225 with the development of stem thorns. *LrSAUR32*, *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR20*, *LrSAUR23*, *LrSAUR13*, and
226 *LrSAUR31* gradually increased with the emergence of thorns, and then showed a downward trend. The
227 expression abundance of *LrSAUR29*, *LrSAUR30*, *LrSAUR27*, and *LrSAUR28* decreased first and then
228 increased with the growth of thorns. Moreover, *LrSAUR4*, *LrSAUR5*, *LrSAUR6*, *LrSAUR7*, *LrSAUR8*,
229 *LrSAUR12*, *LrSAUR17*, *LrSAUR19*, *LrSAUR25*, and *LrSAUR32* had high expression levels in different
230 stages of stem thorn development of *L. ruthenicum*.

231 Twenty-one genes were selected from the *LrSAURs* for tissue expression analysis using RT-qPCR
232 (FPKM \geq 5) (Fig. 5). All the *LrSAURs* had different expression patterns: *LrSAUR31* was mainly
233 expressed in roots, while *LrSAUR13*, *LrSAUR23*, and *LrSAUR32* were primarily expressed in stems
234 and leaves. *LrSAUR4*, *LrSAUR5*, *LrSAUR6*, *LrSAUR7*, *LrSAUR10*, *LrSAUR21*, *LrSAUR25*, *LrSAUR29*,
235 and *LrSAUR30* were predominantly expressed in leaves. *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR8*, *LrSAUR9*, *LrSAUR11*,
236 *LrSAUR12*, and *LrSAUR19* were mainly expressed in stems and stem thorns.

237 To further verify the genes mainly expressed in stems and thorns, this work analyzed the
238 expression levels of *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR8*, *LrSAUR9*, *LrSAUR11*, *LrSAUR12* and *LrSAUR19* from the C
239 and D3 transcriptome samples. Compared with the C treatment, *LrSAUR9* was significantly
240 downregulated under treatment D3, while *LrSAUR12* and *LrSAUR19* were significantly upregulated,
241 and *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR8*, and *LrSAUR11* showed no significant changes.

242

243 DISCUSSION

244

245 Plant hormones play important roles in axillary meristem formation and activation and axillary bud
246 outgrowth. Studies have indicated that auxin, cytokinin, and strigolactone are involved in regulating

Deleted: ,

248 shoot branching (Wang et al., 2018; Waldie et al., 2014). The polar transport of IAA from the stem apex
249 to the base inhibits the growth of axillary buds, resulting in apical dominance. If the terminal bud is
250 removed, axillary bud growth is activated; when IAA is applied to the site of terminal bud removal,
251 axillary bud growth will be re-inhibited (Muller & Leyser et al., 2011). In the present study, it was
252 found that compared with the control, plants treated with IAA were significantly taller, and with the
253 addition of an increased concentration of IAA, the number of stem thorns decreased and the outgrowth
254 time was delayed. Therefore, auxin had an inhibitory effect on the growth of stem thorns of *L.*
255 *ruthenicum*.

256 Axillary bud growth is affected by plant hormones, while the role of plant hormones is regulated
257 by related genes. Most early regulated auxin responsive genes are classified into three families:
258 Aux/IAA, Gretchen Hagen3 (GH3), and SAUR (Hagen et al., 2002). Among these genes, SAURs are
259 considered to be the most abundant. Since the first SAUR gene was identified in elongating soybean
260 hypocotyl sections (McClure et al., 1987), with the availability of genome sequences, genome-wide
261 analysis has been broadly applied, including in the identification and expression profiling of SAUR
262 genes in *Arabidopsis* (Hagen et al., 2002), rice (*Oryza sativa*; Jain et al., 2006), sorghum (*Glycine max*;
263 Wang et al., 2010), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*; Wu et al., 2012), potato (*Solanum tuberosum*; Wu
264 et al., 2012), maize (*Zea mays*; Chen et al., 2014), citrus (Xie et al., 2015), and ramie (*Boehmeria nivea*;
265 Huang et al., 2016). However, there was no reference genome database of *L. ruthenicum* available. In
266 the present study, the SAUR family analysis in *L. ruthenicum* was mainly based on transcriptome data,
267 and a total of 33 possible SAUR gene members were identified. Previous reports have indicated that
268 SAURs contain a central domain (PF02519) (Marchler-Bauer et al., 2013), which is highly
269 conserved. The results of the present study confirmed this finding and provided the first systematically
270 identified SAUR family members in *L. ruthenicum*.

271 According to the MEME analysis results, motif 1 and motif 3 are highly conserved in the SAUR
272 family in *L. ruthenicum* (Fig. 3), and may play an important role in the regulation of plant growth and
273 development. The sequence from the N-terminal to the C-terminal was motif 1 and motif 3. However,
274 no motif existed in all family members. Kodaira et al. (2011) divided AtSAURs into three classes
275 based on their evolutionary relationships in *A. thaliana*. In the present study, LrSAURs were also
276 divided into three groups (Fig. 2). In addition, evolutionary tree analysis showed that LrSAURs in the
277 same branch had a similar number of motifs and sequences, and there were significant differences

278 among different subgroups (Fig. 2), which may have been due to the acquisition or loss of conserved
279 motifs in the evolutionary process of the SAUR family. Previous studies have shown that stem thorns
280 may be related to drought tolerance in *L. ruthenicum* (Lu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2019), and the
281 absence of *AtSAUR32* in *A. thaliana* may reduce drought tolerance (Kurihara et al., 2021). Guo et al.
282 (2019) found that the overexpression of the *SAUR* gene could enhance tolerance to salt stress, drought
283 stress, and low temperature stress in wheat. Therefore, the expression patterns of *LrSAUR* in response
284 to drought stress were analyzed in combination with transcriptome data in *L. ruthenicum*, and a total of
285 14 *LrSAURs* were found to have significant changes (Fig. 4). Wang et al. (2012) showed that *SAUR*
286 genes were regulated by IAA and brassinosteroid. Therefore, *LrSAUR* may play an important role in
287 regulating the growth and development of stem thorns in *L. ruthenicum* under drought conditions.
288 Furthermore, *LrSAUR4*, *LrSAUR5*, *LrSAUR6*, *LrSAUR7*, *LrSAUR8*, *LrSAUR12*, *LrSAUR17*,
289 *LrSAUR19*, *LrSAUR25*, and *LrSAUR32* had high expression levels in different stages of stem thorn
290 development (Fig. 4). These results suggest that these genes may be involved in various physiological
291 metabolic processes during the development of *L. ruthenicum*.

292 This study also investigated the gene expression patterns of 21 *LrSAURs* in various tissues. The
293 number of *LrSAURs* expressed mainly in the leaves was the highest, while the number of genes
294 expressed mainly in the roots was the lowest (Fig. 5), which was similar to previous results in tomato
295 (Wu et al., 2012). In addition, in this study, six *LrSAURs* were highly expressed in stems and thorns
296 (Fig. 5). In cotton, four of 12 *SAURs* were also mainly expressed in the stems (Li et al, 2017).
297 Previous studies have shown that *AtSAUR32* is mainly related to apical hook formation in *Arabidopsis*
298 seedlings, and its overexpression causes the apical hook to disappear, while *atsaur32* mutants restore
299 the curved hook phenotype. Notably, *AtSAUR32* is predominantly expressed on the inner side of the
300 apical hook (Park et al., 2007), which provides direct evidence that *SAURs* function as important
301 regulators of plant accessory structure formation. In the present study, it was found that *LrSAURs* were
302 mainly expressed in stems and thorns, suggesting a putative role in regulating the growth of stem
303 thorns in *L. ruthenicum*. Additionally, compared with the control (C), the expression levels of *LrSAUR9*,
304 *LrSAUR12*, and *LrSAUR19* changed significantly under the D3 treatment (Fig. 6). More study is
305 necessary to further verify the functions of these three *LrSAUR* genes in the development of stem
306 thorns.

307

Deleted: be

309 **REFERENCES**

310

311 **Abbas M, Alabadi D, Blazquez MA. 2013.** Differential growth at the apical hook: all roads lead to
312 auxin. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 4:441 DOI 10.3389/fpls.2013.00441

313 **Chae K, Isaacs CG, Reeves PH, Maloney GS, Muday GK, Nagpal P, Reed JW. 2012.**
314 *Arabidopsis* SMALL AUXIN UP RNA63 promotes hypocotyl and stamen filament elongation. *The*
315 *Plant Journal* 71 (4):684-697 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2012.05024

316 **Chen Y, Hao X, Cao J. 2014.** Small auxin upregulated RNA (SAUR) gene family in maize:
317 identification, evolution, and its phylogenetic comparison with Arabidopsis, rice, and sorghum.
318 *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology* 56(2):133-50 DOI 10.1111/jipb.12127

319 **Duan HR, Ma Q, Zhang JL, Hu J, Bao AK, Wei L, Wang Q, Luan S, Wang SM. 2015.** The
320 inward-rectifying K⁺ channel SsAKT1 is a candidate involved in K⁺ uptake in the halophyte
321 *Suaeda salsa* under saline condition. *Plant Soil* 395(1-2):173-187 DOI
322 10.1007/s11104-015-2539-9

323 **Guo Y, Du M, Xu CB, Sun XJ, Hu Z, Fan SJ, Jiang QY, and Zhang H. 2019.** TaSAUR78 enhances
324 multiple abiotic stresstolerance byregulatingthe interacting gene TaVDAC1, *Journal Of*
325 *Integrative Agriculture* 18(12):2682-2690 DOI 10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62651-1

326 **Gupta O, Meena N, Sharma I, Sharma P. 2014.** Differential regulation of microRNAs in response to
327 osmotic, salt and cold stresses in wheat. *Molecular Biology Reports*. 41:4623-4629
328 DOI:10.1007/s11033-014-3333-0

329 **Hagen G, Guilfoyle T. 2002.** Auxin-responsive gene expression: genes, promoters and regulatory
330 factors. *Plant Molecular Biology* 49(3-4):373-85 DOI 10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62651-1

331 **Hu J, Hu X, Zhang H, Yu Q. 2022.** Moderate NaCl alleviates osmotic stress in *Lycium ruthenicum*.
332 *Plant Growth Regulation* 96(1):25-35 DOI 10.21203/RS.3.RS-512088/V1

333 **Hu W, Yan H, Luo S, Pan F, Wang Y, Xiang Y. 2018.** Genome-wide analysis of poplar SAUR gene
334 family and expression profiles under cold, polyethylene glycol and indole-3-acetic acid treatments.
335 *Plant Physiology Biochemistry* 128:50-65 DOI 10.1016/j.plaphy.2018.04.021

336 **Huang X, Bao Y, Wang BO, Liu L, Chen J, Dai L, Baloch SU, Peng D. 2016.** Identification of small
337 auxin-up RNA (SAUR) genes in Urticales plants: mulberry (*Morus notabilis*), hemp (*Cannabis*
338 *sativa*) and ramie (*Boehmeria nivea*). *Journal Of Genetics* 95(1):119-29 DOI

339 [10.1007/s12041-016-0622-5](https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-016-0622-5)

340 **Jain M, Tyagi AK, Khurana JP. 2006.** Genome-wide analysis, evolutionary expansion, and
341 expression of early auxin-responsive SAUR gene family in rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Genomics*
342 **88(3):360-71** DOI10.1016/j.ygeno.2006.04.008

343 **Kant S, Bi YM, Zhu T, Rothstein SJ. 2009.** SAUR39, a small auxin-up RNA gene, acts as a negative
344 regulator of auxin synthesis and transport in rice. *Plant Physiology* **151(2):691-701** DOI
345 [10.1104/pp.109.143875](https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.143875)

346 **Kodaira KS, Qin F, Tran LS, Maruyama K, Kidokoro S, Fujita Y, Shinozaki K, Kazuko YS. 2011.**
347 Arabidopsis Cys2/His2 zinc-finger proteins AZF1 and AZF2 negatively regulate abscisic
348 acid-repressive and auxin-inducible genes under abiotic stress conditions. *Plant Physiology*
349 **157(2):742-56** DOI [10.1104/pp.111.182683](https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.182683)

350 **Kong Y, Zhu Y, Gao C, She W, Lin W, Chen Y, Han N, Bian HW, Zhu MY, Wang JH. 2013.**
351 Tissue-specific expression of *SMALL AUXIN UP RNA41* differentially regulates cell expansion
352 and root meristem patterning in Arabidopsis. *Plant & Cell Physiology* **54(4):609-621** DOI
353 [10.1093/pcp/pct028](https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pct028)

354 **Kurihara Y, Yokohama R, Reed JJ, Liu HY, Lu G. 2021.** Citation: The Arabidopsis *SMALL*
355 *AUXIN UP RNA32* Protein Regulates ABA-Mediated Responses to Drought Stress. *Frontiers in*
356 *Plant Science* **12** DOI [10.3389/fpls.2021.625493](https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.625493)

357 **Li XH, Liu GY, Geng YH, Wu M, Pei WF, Zhai HH, Zang XS, Li XL, Zhang JF, Yu SX, Yu JW.**
358 **2017.** A genome-wide analysis of the small auxin-up RNA (*SAUR*) gene family in cotton. *BMC*
359 *Genomics* **18** (1): 815 DOI [10.1186/s12864-017-4224-2](https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-4224-2)

360 **Liu Z, Shu Q, Wang L, Yu M, Hu Y, Zhang H, Tao Y, Shao Y. 2012.** Genetic diversity of the
361 endangered and medically important *Lycium ruthenicum* Murr. revealed by sequence-related
362 amplified polymorphism (SRAP) markers. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* **45(1):86-97**
363 DOI [10.1016/j.bse.2012.07.017](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bse.2012.07.017)

364 **Lu WJ, Wang ZL, Fan GH. 2014.** Morphological variation of *Lycium ruthenicum* under artificial
365 cultivation conditions. *Nonwood Forest Research* **32(1):171-175** DOI
366 [10.14067/j.cnki.1003-8981.2014.01.011](https://doi.org/10.14067/j.cnki.1003-8981.2014.01.011)

367 **Marchler-Bauer A, Zheng C, Chitsaz F, Derbyshire MK, Geer LY, Geer RC, Gonzales NR,**
368 **Gwadz M, Hurwitz DI, Lanczycki CJ, Lu F, Lu S, Marchler GH, Song JS, Thanki N,**

369 **Yamashita RA, Zhang D, Bryant SH. 2013.** CDD: conserved domains and protein
370 three-dimensional structure. *Nucleic Acids Research* **41**:348-352 DOI [10.1093/nar/gks1243](https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1243)

371 **Markakis MN, Boron AK, van Loock B, Saini K, Cirera S, Verbelen JP, Vissenberg K. 2013.**
372 Characterization of a small auxin-up RNA (SAUR)-like gene involved in *Arabidopsis thaliana*
373 development. *PLoS ONE* **8**(11):e82596 DOI [10.1371/journal.pone.0082596](https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082596)

374 **McClure BA, Guilfoyle T. 1987.** Characterization of a class of small auxin-inducible soybean
375 polyadenylated RNAs. *Plant Molecular Biology* **9**(6):611-23 DOI [10.1007/BF00020537](https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00020537)

376 **Müller D, Leyser O. 2011.** Auxin, cytokinin and the control of shoot branching. *Annals of Botany*
377 **107**(7):1203-1212 DOI [10.1093/aob/mcr069](https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcr069)

378 **Park JE, Kim YS, Yoon HK, Park CM. 2007.** Functional characterization of a small auxin-up RNA
379 gene in apical hook development in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Science* **172**(1):150-157 DOI
380 [10.1016/j.plantsci.2006.08.005](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2006.08.005)

381 **R Ménard, Verdier G, Ors M, Erhardt M, Shen WH. 2013.** Histone H₂B Monoubiquitination is
382 Involved in the Regulation of Cutin and Wax Composition in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant and Cell*
383 *Physiology*. **55**(2) DOI [10.1093/pcp/pct182](https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pct182)

384 **Ren H, Gray WM. 2015.** SAUR proteins as effectors of hormonal and environmental signals in plant
385 growth. *Molecular Plant* **8**(8):1 153-1164 DOI [10.1016/j.molp.2015.05.003](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2015.05.003)

386 **Spartz AK, Lee SH, Wenger JP, Gonzalez N, Itoh H, Inze D, Peer WA, Murphy AS, Overvoorde P**
387 **J, Gray WM. 2012.** The SAUR19 subfamily of SMALL AUXIN UP RNA genes promote cell
388 expansion. *The Plant Journal* **70**(6):978-990 DOI [10.1111/j.1365-3113X.2012.04946.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3113X.2012.04946.x)

389 **Spartz AK, Lor VS, Ren H, Olszewski NE, Miller ND, Wu G, Spalding EP, Gray WM. 2017.**
390 Constitutive expression of *Arabidopsis* *SMALL AUXIN UP RNA19* (*SAUR19*) in tomato confers
391 auxin-independent hypocotyl elongation. *Plant Physiology* **173**(2):1453-1462 DOI
392 [10.1104/pp.16.01514](https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.01514)

393 **Stamm P, Kumar PP. 2013.** Auxin and gibberellin responsive *Arabidopsis* *SMALL AUXIN UP RNA36*
394 regulates hypocotyl elongation in the light. *Plant Cell Reports* **32**:759-769 DOI
395 [10.1007/s00299-013-1406-5](https://doi.org/10.1007/s00299-013-1406-5)

396 **Vanhaeren H, Gonzalez N, Coppens F, De ML, Van DT, Vermeersch M, Eloy NB, Storme V, Inzé**
397 **D. 2014.** Combining growth-promoting genes leads to positive epistasis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*.
398 *ELife* **3**(3): e02252. DOI [10.7554/eLife.02252](https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.02252)

- 399 **Waldie T, McCulloch H, Leyser O. 2014.** Strigolactones and the control of plant development:
 400 lessons from shoot branching. *Plant Journal* **79**(4):607-622 DOI 10.1111/tpj.12488
- 401 **Waldie T, Leyser O. 2018.** Cytokinin targets auxin transport to promote shoot branching. *Plant*
 402 *Physiology* **177**(2):803-818 DOI: 10.1104/pp.17.01691
- 403 **Wang H, Chen W, Eggert K, Charnikhova T, Bouwmeester H, Schweizer P, Mohammad R H,**
 404 **Christiane S, Sreenivasulu N, Wirén N, Kuhlmann Markus. 2018.** Abscisic acid influences
 405 tillering by modulation of strigolactones in barley. *Journal of Experimental Botany*
 406 **69**(16):3883-3898 DOI 10.1093/jxb/ery200
- 407 **Wang S, Bai Y, Shen C, Wu Y, Zhang S, Jiang D, Guilfoyle TJ, Chen M, Qi Y. 2010.** Auxin-related
 408 gene families in abiotic stress response in Sorghum Bicolor. *Functional & Integrative Genomics*
 409 **10**(4):533-46 DOI 10.1007/s10142-010-0174-3
- 410 **Wang ZY, Bai MY, Oh E, Zhu JY. 2012.** Brassinosteroid signaling network and regulation of
 411 photomorphogenesis. *Annual Reviews of Genetics* **46**:701-724 DOI
 412 10.1146/annurev-genet-102209-163450
- 413 **Wu J, Liu S, He Y, Guan X, Zhu X, Cheng L, Wang J, Lu G. 2012.** Genome-wide analysis of
 414 SAUR gene family in Solanaceae species. *Gene* **509**(1):38-50 DOI 10.1016/j.gene.2012.08.002
- 415 **Xie R, Dong C, Ma Y, Deng L, He S, Yi S, Lv Q, Zheng Y. 2015.** Comprehensive analysis of SAUR
 416 gene family in citrus and its transcriptional correlation with fruitlet drop from abscission zone A.
 417 *Functional & Integrative Genomics* **15**(6):729-40 DOI 10.1007/s10142-015-0450-3
- 418 **Zhang T. 2019.** Effects of drought stress on growth and physiological characteristics and stem thorns
 419 development of *Lycium ruthenicum* [D]. Shenyang Agricultural University.

420
421

422 **Legends of figures and table:**

423

424 **Fig. 1** Effects of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) (0, 25, and 50 mg/L) on stem thorn development in *Lycium*
 425 *ruthenicum*. The thorns are encircled with yellow lines

426

427 **Fig. 2 (a)** Phylogenetic tree of LrSAURs in *Lycium ruthenicum*. (b) Phylogenetic tree of LrSAURs
 428 from *L. ruthenicum* and AtSAURs from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The different colored arcs indicate

429 different groups, and red circle and blue triangles represent LrSAURs and AtSAURs, respectively

430

431 **Fig. 3** Prediction of conserved motifs of LrSAURs in *Lycium ruthenicum*

432

433 **Fig. 4** Expression profiles of *LrSAURs* in different developing thorns

434

435 **Fig.5** Tissue expression profiles of *LrSAURs* in *Lycium ruthenicum*

436

437 Fig.6 Expression profiles of *LrSAUR2*, *LrSAUR8*, *LrSAUR9*, *LrSAUR11*, *LrSAUR12*, *LrSAUR19* in the

438 C and D3 treatments

439

440 **Table1** Statistical information of LrSAURs in *Lycium ruthenicum*

441

442 **Supplemental Data**

443

444 **Supplementary Table S1** Primers of Real-time qPCR

445